
 

 

Steuben County Industrial Development Agency 

7234 Route 54 North 

PO Box 393 

Bath, NY 14810 

September 28, 2023 

 Regular Meeting Notice 

 

  

Steuben County Industrial Development Agency will hold a Regular Business Meeting at 12:00 

pm on September 28, 2023.  This meeting is open to the public and those wishing to view the 

meeting as it is held may do so by visiting: 

September 28, 2023 Meeting Link 

 

Sincerely,  

Mark Alger 

Board Chair 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85708456186?pwd=UUlZVzBsZXI3d1ErcnBEb3JrNzlXUT09


Steuben County Industrial Development Agency 
Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors  

Agenda 
September 28, 2023, 12:00 pm 

 
 
 

1. Call to Order – Quorum Present     Alger 
 

2. Secretary’s Report:       Strobel  
 August 24, 2023 Minutes       
 
3. Treasurer’s Report:       Russo 

August 2023 Financials         
 
4. New Business:         

a) Riedman/CFA Apartments, LLC    Johnson 
b) Appointment of Nominating Committee   Johnson 

i. Mark Alger 
ii. Michelle Caulfield 

iii. Chris Sharkey 
c) Foundry Site – FAST NY application    Johnson 

      
 

5. Old Business: 
a) Empire Long Distance/Empire Telephone Final Resolution Staats  

 
6. Project Updates       Johnson 
 
7. Adjournment        Alger 



Steuben County Industrial Development Agency 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

Minutes of the Regular Meeting August 24, 2023 
 
 

I. Call To Order: The Regular Meeting of the Steuben County Industrial Development 
Agency (IDA) was called to order at 12:06 pm by Chairman Mark Alger. Chairman Alger 
confirmed that there was a quorum present. 

 
Present: Mark Alger   Chairman  
  Scott VanEtten  Vice Chair 
  Dean Strobel   Secretary 
  Tony Russo   Treasurer 

Mike Davidson  Member 
Christine Sharkey  Member 
Steve Maier   IDA Counsel 
James Johnson  Executive Director 
Jill Staats   Deputy Director 
Russ Gaenzle   IDA Counsel (via Zoom) 
 

Absent: Michelle Caulfield  Member 
 
Guests: Russ Eliason   Empire 
  Mark Bristol   Empire 

 
II. Secretary’s Report: A motion to approve the July 27, 2023 Regular Meeting Minutes of 

the IDA as presented in the board materials was made by VanEtten and seconded by 
Sharkey. All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 
III. Treasurer’s Report: Russo provided an overview of the July 2023 financials. Johnson 

added that there are other administrative fees to be collected in 2023. A motion to 
approve the financial statements as presented and included in the board materials was 
made by Davidson and seconded by Strobel. All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 
IV. New Business: 

a) Empire Long Distance/Empire Telephone Corporation Application: Staats 
presented the joint request for assistance for the $4.390 million project in 
Prattsburgh. Russ Eliason, Empire’s CFO, and the project’s consultant, Mark 
Bristol, provided an overview of the company’s success and growth to date as 
well as the need for the project. VanEtten asked if the service vehicles were 
incremental or would replace existing vehicles; Eliason confirmed they would be 
new vehicles added to the fleet due to growth. Sharkey made a motion to accept 
the application as presented and schedule a public hearing pending approval of 



the environmental review; VanEtten seconded the motion. All voted in favor and 
the motion passed. 
 

b) Clean Tech Corridor: Johnson advised members that he’s been working with the 
Broome County IDA and other regional agencies on a white paper to address the 
future of renewable energy and clean tech opportunities in the Southern Tier. 
The effort will lead to an RFP for a study to inventory assets and provide a SWOT 
analysis to recommend a direction for business attraction and retention in this 
field of next-gen technologies. 

 
V. Old Business: 

 
a) PPP Future Development Benefits Extension: The Board passed a motion to 

accept an application for assistance from PPP Future Development at the 
November 2022 meeting. Johnson explained that the project has been stalled 
due to discussions with DOT about a turning lane. Because the project has not 
moved to final approval within six months, it must come back to the Board for an 
extension. Johnson cited the letter from PPP ownership requesting a six-month 
extension through October. Davidson made a motion to approve the request 
which was seconded by Strobel. All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 
b) Momentum Benefits Extension: The Board passed a motion to accept an 

application for assistance from Momentum of Western NY at the July 2022 
meeting and provided final approval at the January 2023 meeting. Because the 
project has not closed within one year of the date of the Initial Resolution, it 
must come back to the Board for an extension. Staats cited the extension 
request letter from Momentum management and explained that the company 
needs to be further along in the DEC approval process before it can start site 
work, which management hopes to receive in the coming months so it can close 
on IDA assistance and start before winter. Sharkey made a motion to approve 
the request which was seconded by Russo. All voted in favor and the motion 
passed. 

 

c) LP Railroad Upgrade: Johnson reminded members that ARC approved funding to 
upgrade the rail and rail crossing in Bath that will be used by the new LP facility. 
He noted that DOT, which is administering the grant and also providing funding, 
is concerned about cost increases due to inflation and asked who would be 
paying for those increases. B&H commented that there will be an increase of 
about $115,000 associated with cement work, but because B&H employees are 
doing the work that number may come down. B&H is committed to covering any 
increase that results. While reviewing this with B&H, Johnson found that there 
was no official dollar amount in place for the fee to be paid to the IDA once B&H 
rail traffic gets to a certain point as has been established on other sections of the 
agency owned rail line. His initial thoughts are that if additional funds are 



needed to cover capital expenses on this section of line, the IDA forfeits any 
income for an agreed amount of time. This will need to be worked out with B&H 
management and a formal proposal brought back to the Board for approval. 

 
VI. Project Updates: Johnson noted that work on the Dana Lyon building in Bath will begin 

in November and reminded members that the IDA approved financial support, if 
needed, for the Waterman Arts Center once an acceptable business plan is provided. He 
also provided an update on David Riedman’s projects in Corning. The Riedman projects 
are all performing well however substantial investment has been made to infrastructure 
at Academy Place to replace and protect the facility from hard water supplied by the 
City of Corning.   
 

VII. Executive Session: Public Officers Law, Article 7 Open Meetings Law – Section 105, 
Paragraph 1g - Proposed acquisition of real property. The Board entered Executive 
Session at 12:50 pm. The motion was made by VanEtten and seconded by Russo. All 
voted in favor and the motion passed. 
 
The Board left Executive Session at 1:05 pm. A motion to leave was made by VanEtten 
and seconded by Sharkey. All voted in favor and the motion passed. 
 

VIII. Adjournment: Sharkey made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 1:06 pm, which was 
seconded by Strobel. All voted in favor and the motion passed. 

 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
Dean Strobel 
Secretary 
 



Aug 31, 23

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
200 · Five Star Bank checking 1,359,663.97
209 · Escrow Project Account 12,316.15
210 · Petty cash 100.00
213 · Five Star CD 225274906 612,700.71
215 · Chemung Canal Trust Company 1,470,192.97
218 · Five Star CD 225343789 1,009,500.00

Total Checking/Savings 4,464,473.80

Total Current Assets 4,464,473.80

Fixed Assets
100 · Land - B&W Railroad 380,250.00
101 · B&H Railroad 102,653.00
102 · B&H Railroad Equipment 14,250.00
103 · Building - Office 161,544.00
104 · Engine House - Livonia 100,000.00
106 · Land - Railroad 39,979.00
107 · Office Equipment 33,968.35
108 · B&W Railroad 380,250.00
109 · Building Improvements 54,260.00
111 · B & H Railroad 922,522.80
112 · Accumulated Depreciation -946,831.24
150 · Website Design 30,000.00

Total Fixed Assets 1,272,845.91

Other Assets
151 · Accumulated Amortization -30,000.00
180 · Pension Asset 72,419.00
199 · Deferred Outflows of Resources 164,578.00

Total Other Assets 206,997.00

TOTAL ASSETS 5,944,316.71

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Other Current Liabilities

2100 · Payroll Liabilities 831.96

261 · Deferred Inflows of Resources 260,359.00

Total Other Current Liabilities 261,190.96

Total Current Liabilities 261,190.96

Total Liabilities 261,190.96

Equity
1110 · Retained Earnings 5,400,119.74
1120 · Temp Restricted-Millennium 153,557.41
1125 · Temp. Restricted Infrastructure 12,316.27
Net Income 117,132.33

Total Equity 5,683,125.75

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 5,944,316.71

5:04 PM SCIDA
09/14/23 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of August 31, 2023

Page 1



 4:58 PM

 09/14/23

 Accrual Basis

 SCIDA

 Profit & Loss Budget Performance
 August 2023

Aug 23 Budget Jan - Aug 23 YTD Budget Annual Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

2140 · Administrative Income 1,000.00 130,886.25 419,125.00 1,047,090.00 1,570,635.00

2401 · Interest Income 243.50 708.33 11,371.37 5,666.68 8,500.00

2770 · Miscellaneous Income 0.00 166.67 1,867.25 1,333.36 2,000.00

2810 · Business Development Support 0.00 0.00 75,000.00 75,000.00 75,000.00

2813 · Grant Income Site Development 0.00 16,000.00 0.00 128,000.00 200,000.00

Total Income 1,243.50 147,761.25 507,363.62 1,257,090.04 1,856,135.00

Gross Profit 1,243.50 147,761.25 507,363.62 1,257,090.04 1,856,135.00

Expense

6145 · Continuing Education 0.00 743.00 4,009.35 5,944.00 8,927.00

6160 · Dues and Subscriptions 384.62 766.00 8,339.79 6,128.00 9,200.00

6180 · Insurance

6181 · Health Insurance 3,135.75 3,750.00 33,621.75 30,000.00 45,000.00

6182 · Dental Insurance 459.72 186.50 1,685.64 1,492.00 2,238.00

6183 · Allowances 975.50 975.50 7,316.25 7,804.00 11,706.00

6185 · Liability Insurance 2,863.00 833.33 10,945.48 6,666.64 10,000.00

6190 · Disability Insurance 480.24 141.66 1,939.84 1,133.28 1,700.00

6195 · Life Insurance 0.00 112.50 1,254.99 900.00 1,350.00

6196 · Workers' Compensation 0.00 145.83 2,961.00 1,166.64 1,750.00

Total 6180 · Insurance 7,914.21 6,145.32 59,724.95 49,162.56 73,744.00

6240 · Miscellaneous Office Expenses 72.37 250.00 349.89 2,000.00 3,000.00

6250 · Postage and Delivery 127.48 250.00 1,045.20 2,000.00 3,000.00

6270 · Professional Fees

6650 · Accounting 0.00 0.00 9,500.00 9,500.00 9,500.00

6655 · Consulting 0.00 1,250.00 0.00 10,000.00 15,000.00

Total 6270 · Professional Fees 0.00 1,250.00 9,500.00 19,500.00 24,500.00

6276 · Infrastructure Development Fees 0.00 752.82

6277 · Site Development 0.00 20,833.33 0.00 166,666.64 250,000.00

6340 · Telephone 293.84 312.50 2,343.96 2,500.00 3,750.00

6350 · Travel & Ent 18.34 666.66 977.25 5,333.28 8,000.00

6390 · Utilities 198.43 358.33 1,632.75 2,866.64 4,300.00

 Page 1 of 2



 4:58 PM

 09/14/23

 Accrual Basis

 SCIDA

 Profit & Loss Budget Performance
 August 2023

Aug 23 Budget Jan - Aug 23 YTD Budget Annual Budget

6465 · Community Engagement 0.00 541.66 0.00 4,333.28 6,500.00

6495 · Cleaning 230.00 250.00 1,840.00 2,000.00 3,000.00

6505 · Conferences 500.00 541.66 5,231.28 4,333.28 6,500.00

6515 · Copier 183.14 208.33 1,661.04 1,666.64 2,500.00

6535 · Internet access 60.00 65.00 480.00 520.00 780.00

6540 · Legal Services 0.00 375.00 4,000.00 3,000.00 4,500.00

6545 · Maintenance 2,576.52 4,166.66 14,119.02 33,333.28 50,000.00

6550 · Office Supplies 183.88 397.91 853.16 3,183.28 4,775.00

6560 · Payroll Expenses 24,360.80 27,466.66 231,226.13 219,733.36 329,600.00

6561 · Payroll Taxes 1,926.58 2,145.83 18,156.42 17,166.68 25,750.00

6576 · Project Costs 1,378.79 2,083.33 6,766.93 16,666.68 25,000.00

6590 · Refuse 36.00 36.00 252.00 293.00 437.00

6595 · Retirement 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 36,988.00

6625 · Technology upgrades 105.00 416.66 1,108.75 3,333.36 5,000.00

6645 · Marketing 2,400.00 2,083.33 8,707.75 16,666.68 25,000.00

6647 · Manufacturing Day Video & Event 4,550.00 679.41 4,550.00 5,435.36 8,153.00

6651 · Payroll Fees 326.90 223.16 2,602.85 1,785.36 2,678.00

Total Expense 47,826.90 73,255.74 390,231.29 595,551.36 925,582.00

Net Ordinary Income -46,583.40 74,505.51 117,132.33 661,538.68 930,553.00

Net Income -46,583.40 74,505.51 117,132.33 661,538.68 930,553.00

 Page 2 of 2











































 

1 

FINAL RESOLUTION 

(CFA Apartments LLC Project) 

 

A regular meeting of the Steuben County Industrial Development Agency was convened 

on Thursday, September 28, 2023. 

 

The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit: 

 

Resolution No.  09/2023 - _____ 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE STEUBEN COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (THE "AGENCY") (i) ACCEPTING AN 

APPLICATION WITH RESPECT TO A CERTAIN PROJECT (DESCRIBED 

BELOW); (ii) APPOINTING CFA APARTMENTS LLC AS AGENT OF THE 

AGENCY TO UNDERTAKE THE PROJECT; (iii) MAKING A 

DETERMINATION UNDER ARTICLE 8 OF THE NEW YORK STATE 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION LAW IN CONNECTION WITH THE 

PROJECT; (iv) AUTHORIZING FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO THE 

COMPANY WITH RESPECT TO THE PROJECT IN THE FORM OF (a) A 

SALES AND USE TAX EXEMPTION AND (b) A PARTIAL REAL 

PROPERTY TAX ABATEMENT STRUCTURED THROUGH AN AMENDED 

AND RESTATED TAX AGREEMENT; (v) AUTHORIZING THE 

EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AN AGENT, FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

AND PROJECT AGREEMENT, AMENDED AND RESTATED LEASE 

AGREEMENT, AMENDED AND RESTATED LEASEBACK AGREEMENT 

AND AN AMENDED AND RESTATED TAX AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT 

TO THE PROJECT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS. 

 

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of 

New York, as amended, and Chapter 178 of the Laws of 1972 of the State of New York, as 

amended (hereinafter collectively called the "Act"), the STEUBEN COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (hereinafter called the "Agency") was created with the authority 

and power to own, lease and sell property for the purpose of, among other things, acquiring, 

constructing and equipping civic, industrial, manufacturing and commercial facilities as 

authorized by the Act; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Agency previously undertook a certain project (the "2014 Project") for 

the benefit of CFA Apartments LLC (the "Company") consisting of: (i) the acquisition b the 

Agency of a leasehold or other interest in certain property located at 11 West Third Street, City 

of Corning, Steuben County, New York (the "Land") and the existing improvements located 

thereon, consisting principally of the existing vacant approximately 98,000 square-foot Corning 

Free Academy Middle School (the "2014 Existing Improvements"), (ii) the renovation and retro-

fitting of the 2014 Existing Improvements to accommodate five-stories (basement level, ground 

floor level and three stories above ground floor level) which contain in the aggregate 

approximately 58 market-rate residential apartment units, a rental office, club house, 

gymnasium, fitness center, storage units, historically preserved auditorium, common areas, sixty-



 

2 

four parking spaces (of which twenty-eight will be covered), grading, landscaping and related 

sitework improvements (the "2014 Improvements"), and (iii) the acquisition and installation in 

and around the 2014 Improvements of certain items of equipment, machinery and other tangible 

personal property (the "2014 Equipment", and collectively with the Land and the 2014 

Improvements, the "2014 Facility"); and 

 

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the 2014 Project, the Agency and the Company entered 

into: (i) an Agent Agreement, (ii) a Lease Agreement (and memorandum), (iii) a Leaseback 

Agreement (and memorandum), (iv) a Payment-in-Lieu-of-Tax Agreement and (v) related 

documents (collectively, the "2014 Agency Documents"), whereby the Agency appointed the 

Company to undertake the 2014 Project and provided the Company with certain forms of 

financial assistance (the "2014 Financial Assistance"); and 

  

WHEREAS, the Company has submitted an application (the "Application") to the 

Agency, a copy of which is on file with the Agency, requesting the Agency's assistance with 

respect to a certain project (the "Project") consisting of: (i) the retention by the Agency of a 

leasehold interest in the Land containing the 2014 Existing Improvements and 2014 

Improvements; (ii) the renovation of the 2014 Facility (the "Improvements") and (iii) the 

acquisition of and installation in and around the Land and the Improvements by the Company of 

machinery, equipment, fixtures and other items of tangible personal property (the "Equipment" 

and, together with the Land and the Improvements, the "Facility"); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 18-A of the Act the Agency desires to adopt a resolution 

describing the Project and the Financial Assistance (as defined below) that the Agency is 

contemplating with respect to the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is contemplated that the Agency will (i) negotiate and enter into an agent, 

financial assistance and project agreement, pursuant to which the Agency will appoint the 

Company as its agent for the purpose of undertaking the Project (the "Project Agreement"), (ii) 

negotiate and enter into an amended and restated lease agreement (the "Lease Agreement"), 

related amended and restated leaseback agreement (the "Leaseback Agreement"), and an 

amended and restated tax agreement (the "Tax Agreement"), (iii) retain a leasehold interest in the 

2014 Facility and take a leasehold interest in the Improvements and the Equipment and the 

personal property constituting the Facility (once the Lease Agreement, Leaseback Agreement 

and Tax Agreement have been negotiated), and (iv) provide Financial Assistance to the 

Company in the form of (a) a sales and use tax exemption for purchases and rentals related to the 

acquisition, reconstruction, renovation and equipping of the Facility and (b) a partial real 

property tax abatement structure under the Tax Agreement (collectively, the "Financial 

Assistance"); and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the New York State Environmental Quality Review Act, Article 

8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and the regulations adopted pursuant thereto at 6 

N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617, as amended (collectively referred to as "SEQRA"), the Agency must 

satisfy the applicable requirements set forth in SEQRA, as necessary, prior to making a final 

determination whether to undertake the Project; and  

 



 

3 

WHEREAS, the Financial Assistance provided by the Agency to the Company shall not 

exceed $100,000 and, therefore, a public hearing with respect to the Project is not required to be 

held by the Agency; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Project Agreement, Lease Agreement, Leaseback Agreement, Tax 

Agreement, Mortgage and related documents with respect to the Project are being negotiated and 

will be presented to the Executive Director, Chairman and/or Vice Chairman of the Agency for 

execution upon approval of this resolution. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE STEUBEN 

COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The Company has presented an Application in a form acceptable to the 

Agency.  Based upon the representations made by the Company to the Agency in the Company’s 

Application, the Agency hereby finds and determines that: 

 

 (A) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary and 

convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of the Act and to exercise all 

powers granted to it under the Act; and 

 

 (B) It is desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to appoint the Company as 

its agent for purposes of undertaking the Project; and 

 

 (C) The Agency has the authority to take the actions contemplated herein under the 

Act; and 

 

 (D) The action to be taken by the Agency will induce the Company to develop the 

Project, thereby increasing employment opportunities in Steuben County, New York, and 

otherwise furthering the purposes of the Agency as set forth in the Act; and 

 

 (E) The Project will not result in the removal of a civic, commercial, industrial, or 

manufacturing plant of the Company or any other proposed occupant of the Project from one 

area of the State of New York (the "State") to another area of the State or result in the 

abandonment of one or more plants or facilities of the Company or any other proposed occupant 

of the Project located within the State; and the Agency hereby finds that, based on the 

Company’s application, to the extent occupants are relocating from one plant or facility to 

another, the Project is reasonably necessary to discourage the Project occupants from removing 

such other plant or facility to a location outside the State and/or is reasonably necessary to 

preserve the competitive position of the Project occupants in their respective industries; and 

 

(F) Based upon the representations made by the Company to the Agency in the 

Application, the Agency hereby finds and determines that the Project constitutes a "Type II 

Action" (as such term is defined in SEQRA) as the Project constitutes the replacement, 

rehabilitation and reconstruction of a structure or facility, in kind, on the same site; therefore, no 

further action is required under SEQRA. 

 



 

4 

Section 2. Based upon representations and warranties made by the Company in the 

Application, the Agency hereby authorizes and approves the Company, as its agent, to make 

purchases of goods and services relating to the Project, that would otherwise be subject to State 

and local sales and use tax in an amount up to $212,272.00, which result in State and local sales 

and use tax exemption benefits ("Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits") not to exceed 

$16,982.00.  The Agency agrees to consider any requests by the Company for increase to the 

amount of Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits authorized by the Agency upon being 

provided with appropriate documentation detailing the additional purchases of property or 

services.  

 

Section 3.  Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the Act, the Agency may recover or 

recapture from the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 

authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, any Sales and Use Tax Exemption 

Benefits taken or purported to be taken by the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, 

or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, if it is determined 

that: (i) the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to 

make purchases for the benefit of the Project, is not entitled to the Sales and Use Tax Exemption 

Benefits; (ii) the Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits are in excess of the amounts authorized 

to be taken by the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized 

to make purchases for the benefit of the Project; (iii) the Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits 

are for property or services not authorized by the Agency as part of the Project; or (iv) the Sales 

and Use Tax Exemption Benefits are taken in cases where the Company, its agents, consultants, 

subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, 

fails to comply with a material term or condition to use property or services in the manner 

approved by the Agency in connection with the Project.  As a condition precedent of receiving 

Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits, the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or 

any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, shall (i) cooperate 

with the Agency in its efforts to recover or recapture any Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits, 

and (ii) promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency that the Agency demands. 

 

Section 4. Subject to the Company executing the Agent Agreement and the delivery 

to the Agency of a binder, certificate or other evidence of liability insurance policy for the 

Project satisfactory to the Agency, the Agency hereby authorizes the Company to proceed with 

the undertaking of the Project and hereby appoints the Company as the true and lawful agent of 

the Agency: (i) to undertake the Project; (ii) to make, execute, acknowledge and deliver any 

contracts, orders, receipts, writings and instructions, as the stated agent for the Agency with the 

authority to delegate such agency, in whole or in part, to agents, subagents, contractors, and 

subcontractors of such agents and subagents and to such other parties as the Company chooses; 

and (iii) in general, to do all things which may be requisite or proper for completing the Project, 

all with the same powers and the same validity that the Agency could do if acting in its own 

behalf; provided, however, the Agent Agreement shall expire on December 31, 2024 (unless 

extended for good cause by the Executive Director of the Agency) if the Lease Agreement, 

Leaseback Agreement, Tax Agreement contemplated have not been executed and delivered. 

 

Section 5. The Executive Director, Chairman and/or Vice Chairman of the Agency 

are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute (i) the Agent Agreement, pursuant to 



 

5 

which the Agency appoints the Company as its agent to undertake the Project, (ii) an Amended 

and Restated Lease Agreement, pursuant to which the Company leases the Project to the Agency, 

and (iii) a related Amended and Restated Leaseback Agreement, pursuant to which the Agency 

leases its interest in the Project back to the Company, (iv) the Amended and Restated Tax 

Agreement, and (v) related documents; provided that (i) the rental payments under the Amended 

and Restated Leaseback Agreement include payments of all costs incurred by the Agency arising 

out of or related to the Project and indemnification of the Agency by the Company for actions 

taken by the Company and/or claims arising out of or related to the Project and (ii) the terms of 

the Amended and Restated Tax Agreement are consistent with the Agency's Uniform Tax 

Exemption Policy or the procedures for deviation therefrom have been complied with. 

 

Section 6. The Executive Director, Chairman and/or Vice Chairman of the Agency 

are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute, deliver and record a mortgage, 

assignment of leases and rents, security agreement, UCC-1 Financing Statements and all 

documents reasonably contemplated by these resolutions or required by the Bank in such forms 

as approved by counsel to the Agency up to a maximum principal amount necessary to undertake 

the Project, acquire the Facility and/or finance or refinance equipment and other personal 

property and related transactional costs (hereinafter, with the Agent Agreement, Lease 

Agreement, Leaseback Agreement and Tax Agreement, collectively called the "Agency 

Documents"); and, where appropriate, the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Agency is 

hereby authorized to affix the seal of the Agency to the Agency Documents and to attest the 

same, all with such changes, variations, omissions and insertions as the Executive Director, 

Chairman and/or Vice Chairman of the Agency shall approve, the execution thereof by the 

Executive Director, Chairman and/or Vice Chairman of the Agency to constitute conclusive 

evidence of such approval; provided, in all events, recourse against the Agency is limited to the 

Agency's interest in the Project. 

 

Section 7. The Financial Assistance provided by the Agency to the Company shall 

not exceed $100,000 and, therefore, a public hearing is not required to be held by the Agency. 

 

Section 8. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized 

and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required 

and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all such fees, 

charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, in the 

opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of 

the foregoing resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants 

and provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 

Section 9. These Resolutions shall take effect immediately. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

6 

 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote on roll 

call, which resulted as follows: 

 

Yea  Nay  Absent  Abstain 

 

Mark R. Alger    [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Scott J. Van Etten    [ ] [ ] [ ]  [ ] 

Tony Russo    [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Dean Strobel     [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Michelle Caulfield   [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Mike Davidson    [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Christine G. Sharkey   [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

  

The Resolutions were thereupon duly adopted. 



 

7 

CERTIFICATION 

(CFA Apartments LLC Project) 

 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 

COUNTY OF STEUBEN  ) SS.: 

 

I, the undersigned Secretary of the Steuben County Industrial Development Agency, DO 

HEREBY CERTIFY: 

 

That I have compared the annexed extract of minutes of the meeting of the Steuben 

County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), including the resolution contained 

therein, held on September 28, 2023, with the original thereof on file in my office, and that the 

same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such resolution set forth 

therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to the subject matters therein 

referred to. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting, 

that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public 

Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public 

notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Article 7. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present 

throughout said meeting. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force 

and effect and has not been amended, repealed or modified. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this _____ day of 

____________________, 2023. 

 

 

 

              

        Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

425759\4891-1936-0641\ v1 

FINAL RESOLUTION 

(Empire Long Distance Corporation & Empire Telephone Corporation Project) 

 

A regular meeting of the Steuben County Industrial Development Agency was convened 

on Thursday, September 28, 2023. 

 

The following resolution was duly offered and seconded, to wit: 

 

Resolution No. 09/2023 - ___ 

 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE STEUBEN COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (i) ACKNOWLEDGING THE PUBLIC 

HEARING HELD WITH RESPECT TO THE EMPIRE LONG 

DISTANCE CORPORATION AND EMPIRE TELEPHONE 

CORPORATION PROJECT ON SEPTEMBER 19, 2023; (ii) 

AUTHORIZING FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (AS MORE FULLY 

DESCRIBED BELOW) FOR THE BENEFIT OF EMPIRE LONG 

DISTANCE CORPORATION AND EMPIRE TELEPHONE 

CORPORATION; (iii) MAKING A DETERMINATION WITH 

RESPECT TO ARTICLE 8 OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL 

CONSERVATION LAW AND 6 N.Y.C.R.R. PART 617; AND (iv) 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A PROJECT 

AGREEMENT, LEASE AGREEMENT, LEASEBACK AGREEMENT, 

TAX AGREEMENT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH RESPECT 

TO THE PROJECT.   

 

WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of 

New York, as amended, and Chapter 178 of the Laws of 1972 of the State of New York, as 

amended (hereinafter collectively called the "Act"), the STEUBEN COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (the "Agency") was created with the authority and power to own, 

lease and sell property for the purpose of, among other things, acquiring, constructing and 

equipping industrial, manufacturing and commercial facilities as authorized by the Act; and 

 

WHEREAS, EMPIRE LONG DISTANCE CORPORATION AND EMPIRE 

TELEPHONE CORPORATION, for themselves or on behalf of an entity formed or to be 

formed by it or on their behalf (collectively, the "Company"), has submitted an application (the 

"Application"), a copy of which is on file with the Agency, requesting the Agency's assistance 

with respect to a certain project (the "Project"), consisting of: (i) the acquisition by the Agency 

of a leasehold interest in approximately 7.4 acres located at County Route 74, State Route 53 and 

10632 S. Main Street, Town of Prattsburgh, New York and all other lands where by license or 

easement or other agreement the Company or its designees are making improvements that 

benefit the Project (the "Land", being more particularly identified as all or portions of tax parcel 

numbers 048.05-01-018.120; 048.05-01-026.000; 048.05-01-021.000; 048.05-01-022.000; 

048.05-01-024.000; 047.00-01-002.200 and 047.00-01-095.000) and the approximately 13,200 

existing facility located thereon (the "Existing Improvements"); (ii) the planning, design, 



 

  

  
 

construction and operation on the Land of an approximately 24,000 square foot building 

consisting of approximately 20,000 square feet of warehouse space and approximately 4,000 

square feet of administrative space, along with utility and site improvements, parking, access and 

egress improvements, signage, curbage, sidewalks, landscaping and stormwater improvements 

(collectively, the "Improvements"); and (iii) the acquisition of and installation in and around the 

Land and Improvements by the Company of machinery, equipment, fixtures and other items of 

tangible personal property (the "Equipment"; and, together with the Land, the Existing 

Improvements and the Improvements, the "Facility"); and 

 

WHEREAS, by resolution adopted by the Agency on August 24, 2023 (the "Inducement 

Resolution"), the Agency accepted the Application as submitted by the Company and, among 

other things, (i) described the Financial Assistance (as defined below) being contemplated by the 

Agency and (ii) authorized the Agency to hold a public hearing regarding the contemplated 

Financial Assistance; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 859-a of the Act, on Tuesday, September 19, 2023, at 

10:00 a.m., the Agency held a public hearing with respect to the Project and the proposed 

Financial Assistance being contemplated by the Agency (the "Public Hearing") whereat 

interested parties were provided a reasonable opportunity, both orally and in writing, to present 

their views.  A copy of the Notice of Public Hearing published and forwarded to the affected 

taxing jurisdictions at least ten (10) days prior to said Public Hearing are attached hereto as 

Exhibit A; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the New York State Environmental Quality Review Act, Article 

8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and the regulations adopted pursuant thereto at 6 

N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617, as amended (collectively referred to as "SEQRA"), the Agency must 

satisfy the applicable requirements set forth in SEQRA, as necessary, prior to making a final 

determination whether to undertake the Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of Prattsburgh Planning Board (the "Planning Board"), as lead 

agency, conducted a coordinated review of the Project pursuant to SEQRA, which resulted in the 

issuance of a negative declaration by the Planning Board, dated September 14, 2023 (the 

"Negative Declaration) attached hereto as Exhibit B, concluding the SEQRA process; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Agency desires to adopt a resolution (i) acknowledging that the Public 

Hearing was held in compliance with the Act, (ii) authorizing the negotiation, execution and 

delivery by the Agency of a Project Agreement, Lease Agreement, Leaseback Agreement, Tax 

Agreement and related documents, and (iii) authorizing the Financial Assistance to the 

Company. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE STEUBEN COUNTY 

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. The Public Hearing held by the Agency Tuesday, September 19, 2023, at 

10:00 a.m., concerning the Project and the Financial Assistance was duly held in accordance 

with the Act, including but not limited to the giving of at least ten (10) days published notice of 



 

  

  
 

the Public Hearing (such notice also provided to the Chief Executive Officer of each affected tax 

jurisdiction), affording interested parties a reasonable opportunity, both orally and in writing, to 

present their views with respect to the Project. 

 

Section 2. The Planning Board has conducted a coordinated review of the Project 

pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and 6 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617 

(collectively referred to as "SEQRA"). In addition to the Planning Board classifying the Project 

as a "Type 1" action pursuant to SEQRA, the Planning Board also issued a Negative Declaration 

on September 14, 2023, determining that the Project did not present a potential significant 

adverse environmental impact. The Agency, having reviewed the materials presented by the 

Company, including but not limited to, the Full Environmental Assessment Form, further 

determines that the Project does not pose a potential significant adverse environmental impact 

and thus ratifies the Negative Declaration previously issued by the Planning Board pursuant to 6 

N.Y.C.R.R. Part 617.7. 

 

Section 3. The Agency is hereby authorized to provide to the Company financial 

assistance in the form of (a) a sales and use tax exemption for purchases and rentals related to the 

acquisition, construction, reconstruction, renovation and equipping of the Project and (b) a 

partial real property tax abatement structured through the Tax Agreement (collectively, the 

"Financial Assistance"). 

 

Section 4. Based upon the representation and warranties made by the Company in the 

Application, the Agency hereby authorizes and approves the Company, as its agent, to make 

purchases of goods and services relating to the Project and that would otherwise be subject to 

New York State and local sales and use tax in an amount up to approximately $3,950,000.00, 

which result in New York State and local sales and use tax exemption benefits ("Sales and Use 

Tax Exemption Benefits") not to exceed $316,000.00.  The Agency agrees to consider any 

requests by the Company for increase to the amount of Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits 

authorized by the Agency upon being provided with appropriate documentation detailing the 

additional purchases of property or services, and, to the extent required, the Agency authorizes 

and conducts any supplemental public hearing(s). 

 

Section 5. Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the Act, the Agency may recover or 

recapture from the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 

authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, any Sales and Use Tax Exemption 

Benefits taken or purported to be taken by the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, 

or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, if it is determined 

that: (i) the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to 

make purchases for the benefit of the Project, is not entitled to the Sales and Use Tax Exemption 

Benefits; (ii) the Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits are in excess of the amounts authorized 

to be taken by the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized 

to make purchases for the benefit of the Project; (iii) the Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits 

are for property or services not authorized by the Agency as part of the Project; (iv) the 

Company has made a material false statement on its application for financial assistance; (v) the 

Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits are taken in cases where the Company, its agents, 

consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of 



 

  

  
 

the Project fails to comply with a material term or condition to use property or services in the 

manner approved by the Agency in connection with the Project; and/or (vi) the Company obtains 

mortgage recording tax benefits and/or real property tax abatements and fails to comply with a 

material term or condition to use property or services in the manner approved by the Agency in 

connection with the Project (collectively, items (i) through (vi) hereby defined as a "Recapture 

Event"). 

 

As a condition precedent of receiving Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits and real 

property tax abatement benefits, the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any 

other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, must (i) if a Recapture 

Event determination is made by the Agency, cooperate with the Agency in its efforts to recover 

or recapture any Sales and Use Tax Exemption Benefits, mortgage recording tax benefits and/or 

real property tax abatement benefits, and (ii) promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency 

that the Agency demands, if and as so required to be paid over as determined by the Agency. 

 

Section 6. Subject to the Company executing the Project Agreement and the delivery 

to the Agency of a binder, certificate or other evidence of liability insurance policy for the 

Project satisfactory to the Agency, the Agency hereby authorizes the Company to proceed with 

the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project and hereby appoints the Company as 

the true and lawful agent of the Agency: (i) to acquire, reconstruct, renovate and equip the 

Project; (ii) to make, execute, acknowledge and deliver any contracts, orders, receipts, writings 

and instructions, as the stated agent for the Agency with the authority to delegate such agency, in 

whole or in part, to agents, subagents, contractors, and subcontractors of such agents and 

subagents and to such other parties as the Company chooses; and (iii) in general, to do all things 

which may be requisite or proper for completing the Project, all with the same powers and the 

same validity that the Agency could do if acting in its own behalf; provided, however, the Project 

Agreement shall expire on December 31, 2024 (unless extended for good cause by the Executive 

Director of the Agency) if the Lease Agreement, the Leaseback Agreement and the Tax 

Agreement contemplated have not been executed and delivered 

 

Section 7. The Chairman, Vice Chairman and/or the Executive Director of the 

Agency are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to negotiate and execute (A) the Project 

Agreement, pursuant to which the Agency will appoint the Company as its agent to undertake the 

Project, (B) the Lease Agreement, pursuant to which the Company leases the Project to the 

Agency, (C) the related Leaseback Agreement, pursuant to which the Agency leases its interest 

in the Project back to the Company, and (D) the Tax Agreement; provided (i) the rental 

payments under the Leaseback Agreement include payments of all costs incurred by the Agency 

arising out of or related to the Project and indemnification of the Agency by the Company for 

actions taken by the Company and/or claims arising out of or related to the Project; and (ii) the 

terms of the Tax Agreement are consistent with the Agency's Uniform Tax Exemption Policy or 

the procedures for deviation have been complied with. 

 

 Section 8. The Chairman, Vice Chairman and/or Executive Director of the Agency 

are hereby authorized, on behalf of the Agency, to execute, deliver and record any mortgage, 

assignment of leases and rents, security agreement, UCC-1 Financing Statements and all 

documents reasonably contemplated by these resolutions or required by any lender/financial 



 

  

  
 

institution identified by the Company (the "Lender") up to a maximum principal amount 

necessary to undertake the Project, acquire the Facility and/or finance or re-finance equipment 

and other personal property and related transactional costs (hereinafter, with the Lease 

Agreement, Leaseback Agreement and Tax Agreement, collectively called the "Agency 

Documents"); and, where appropriate, the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of the Agency is 

hereby authorized to affix the seal of the Agency to the Agency Documents and to attest the 

same, all with such changes, variations, omissions and insertions as the Chairman, Vice 

Chairman and/or Executive Director of the Agency shall approve, the execution thereof by the 

Chairman, Vice Chairman and/or Executive Director of the Agency to constitute conclusive 

evidence of such approval; provided in all events recourse against the Agency is limited to the 

Agency’s interest in the Project. 

 

Section 9. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized 

and directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required 

and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay all such fees, 

charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may be necessary or, in the 

opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of 

the foregoing resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants 

and provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 

Section 10.  In the event that the Company does not close with the Agency on the 

proposed financial assistance within twelve (12) months of the date of the Inducement 

Resolution, the Agency reserves the right to rescind and cancel this resolution and all approvals 

made hereunder or under any other Agency resolution or action. 
  

Section 11. These Resolutions shall take effect immediately. 

 

The question of the adoption of the foregoing Resolution was duly put to a vote on roll 

call, which resulted as follows: 

 

 

   Yea  Nay  Absent  Abstain 

 

Mark R. Alger   [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Scott J. Van Etten  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Anthony Russo  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Dean Strobel    [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Mike Davidson  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 
Christine G. Sharkey  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

Michelle Caulfield  [ ] [ ] [ ] [ ] 

 

 

 

The Resolutions were thereupon duly adopted. 



 

  

  
 

SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATION 

(Empire Long Distance Corporation & Empire Telephone Corporation Project) 

 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK  ) 

COUNTY OF STEUBEN  ) ss.: 

 

I, the undersigned, Secretary, of the Steuben County Industrial Development Agency, DO 

HEREBY CERTIFY: 

 

That I have compared the annexed extract of minutes of the meeting of the Steuben 

County Industrial Development Agency (the "Agency"), including the resolution contained 

therein, held on September 28, 2023, with the original thereof on file in the office of the Agency, 

and that the same is a true and correct copy of the proceedings of the Agency and of such 

resolution set forth therein and of the whole of said original insofar as the same related to the 

subject matters therein referred to. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that all members of said Agency had due notice of said meeting, 

that the meeting was in all respects duly held and that, pursuant to Article 7 of the Public 

Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said meeting was open to the general public, and that public 

notice of the time and place of said meeting was duly given in accordance with such Article 7. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that there was a quorum of the members of the Agency present 

throughout said meeting. 

 

I FURTHER CERTIFY, that as of the date hereof, the attached resolution is in full force 

and effect and has not been amended, repealed or modified. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ___ day of 

________________, 2023. 

 

 

 

              

        Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 

  

  
 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Notice Documents 

 

[See Attached]



 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

Negative Declaration of Town of Prattsburgh Planning Board 

 

[See Attached] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


